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  To Edward Hibbert,


  who makes my work possible.




  

    To Bruce Schackman,


    who makes the rest possible.


  




  







  Some forms of reality are so horrible we refuse to face them, unless we are trapped into it by comedy.




  To label any subject unsuitable for comedy is to admit defeat.




  —Peter Sellers
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  O  N  E




  ‘Who in the world am I? Ah, that’s the great puzzle!’




  In 1924, a minor music hall performer called Peg Sellers gave birth to a baby boy. She named him Peter. Peg had long been dominated by her imposing

  impresario of a mother, Welcome Mendoza, and she was eager to focus her own fierce maternal drive on the tiny boy. But Peter Sellers died quickly and was buried and never mentioned again.




  Welcome Mendoza was, truly, the outlandish name with which Peg Sellers’s mother was born, though she changed it twice along the way: first to Marks when she got married, then to Ray when

  she elbowed her kids onto the music hall stage. Showmanship and aggression ran strong in this family. Welcome Mendoza Marks, who started calling herself Belle Ray when she became a vaudeville

  manager, was the granddaughter of the most renowned Jewish prizefighter of the eighteenth century.




  Strange to say, there were many brawling Jews in that era: Aby Belasco, Barney ‘Star of the East’ Aaron, Lazarus the Jew Boy, the curiously named Ikey Pig . . . But the best of them,

  the strongest and scrappiest, was Daniel Mendoza, whose fabulous life in the ring was set up, however indirectly, by a gang of Jewish killers. In the spring of 1771, a flourishing group of

  circumcised thieves (led by a doctor, of all people) was busily breaking into Chelsea houses and successfully removing items of interest. The crime spree came to an abrupt end in June when, in the

  midst of a burglary, they made the mistake of killing somebody’s servant. The doctor and his gang were quickly apprehended, tried, convicted and hanged, but the rest of London’s Jewish

  population felt a more long-lasting effect. ‘I have seen many Jews hooted, hunted, cuffed, pulled by the beard, spit upon, and barbarously assaulted in the streets,’ a contemporary

  wrote. ‘Dogs could not be used in the streets in the manner many Jews were treated.’




  Daniel Mendoza was five years old at the time of the Chelsea murder, and throughout his childhood and adolescence no Jewish boy in London was safe from Christian

  harassment. Daniel was naturally tough, even belligerent, and he learned to protect himself. When he got older he trained other boys to fight as well, and eventually, as Mendoza’s

  contemporary noted, ‘it was no longer safe to insult a Jew unless he was an old man and alone’. Thrashing others was not Daniel’s first career choice, however. After his bar

  mitzvah he set himself on becoming a glassmaker, but his apprenticeship came to a quick end when he couldn’t help but beat up the glazier’s son. He moved on to assist a greengrocer but

  spent so much time physically avenging the grocer’s wife against the insults of shoppers that he soon moved on again, this time to a teashop, where he responded to a customer’s

  complaint about the service by clobbering him – for forty-five minutes. The bruised patron, however, had sense. He responded not with legal action but with sound advice: he convinced Daniel

  to become a professional fighter.




  Until his great-great-grandson surpassed him in both fame and fortune, Daniel Mendoza was his family’s brightest star. (The great-great-grandson acknowledged this fact in several of his

  films by hanging portraits of Mendoza in the background; a certain inept French detective, for instance, is an admirer of Daniel Mendoza.) The prizefighter left a curious series of personality

  bequests. Like his descendant, Mendoza liked to assume other identities if his own grew dull. Mendoza and his friends once decided to go out on the town in the guise of seamen and were promptly

  arrested, having been mistaken for group of sailors who had just jumped ship. Like his descendant, Mendoza didn’t quit show business after facing a hostile audience. There’s the story

  of Mendoza showing up at a Jewish pageant and being hired on the spot to perform; the audience booed, the manager refused to pay, and Mendoza, never one to back down from a dispute, simply

  persisted in his demands until he got his fee. And he was inevitably the victim of trouble, never the cause. As described by a contemporary, he ‘always was the injured party. In his own

  estimation, never was there such a mild mannered man as he. The fights just seemed to seek him out.’ Can a sense of victimization be genetic?




  Mendoza made and lost a vast amount of money in his life. His abiding concern for the box office led him to stage one of several grudge matches with his arch-rival, Richard Humphreys, on the

  riverbank, specifically to keep gatecrashers away. He never imagined that they would simply arrive by boat, a fact that bugged him for the rest of his life. The Prince of

  Wales introduced his friend Mendoza to his father; thus Daniel Mendoza rode in a royal carriage to Windsor Castle and met George III. They strolled on the terrace together, the King of England and

  the street fighter from the East End. It was the first time the monarch had ever spoken to a Jew. After winning his first professional bout and earning the sum of five guineas, he went on in 1785

  to beat a fighter called Martin the Butcher in a record twenty minutes and earned, thanks to the patronage and friendship of the Prince of Wales, more than £1,000 – a fantastic sum at

  the time.




  Mendoza tended to spend more than he earned, a common enough failing, and more than once he spent time in debtors’ prison. As he aged, prizefighting had to be supplemented with catering.

  Summons serving. Recruiting soldiers. Innkeeping. Inciting a mob. Baking. Mendoza died in 1836 at the age of seventy-three, leaving a wife, eleven children and no money.




  Daniel’s son Isaac married a woman named Lesser, who bore Welcome. Welcome married Solomon Marks and bore Peg. Peg married Bill Sellers. In 1925 Peg and Bill had another baby to replace

  the dead one. They called him Peter, too.




  • • •




  Welcome Mendoza Marks was prolific and shrewd, not only as a businesswoman but as a mother. She birthed, fed, and raised a total of eight sons – George, Harry, Chick,

  Alfred, Lewis, Dick, Moss and Bert – and two daughters, Cissie and Peg, whose real name was Agnes. When Solomon Marks died, Welcome was dynamic enough to gather her ten offspring at a house

  at Cassland Crescent, Hackney, and press upon them the idea of a family theatre troupe and management company. She called it Ray Brothers, Ltd, having decided that Belle Ray was a more fitting name

  for a woman of the theatre, though everybody around her called her Ma.




  Ma Ray was Gypsy’s Mama Rose with skill, better luck and more children. She never aimed at art. Commerce was her goal, and the more the better. From nothing, she came to manage

  forty other vaudeville companies in addition to her own, though Ray Brothers, Ltd was always her chief concern. The company survived, even thrived, but the hard fact was that music hall was already

  on its way out. As clever as Ma was as a theatre manager, a more prescient enterprise would have been cinemas. And even within the slowly declining world of the English

  music hall, Ray Brothers were never top-notch. They don’t seem to have ever played London – only provincial theatres, a heavy component of which were summer seaside resorts.




  A German inventor sold Ma her big inspiration: a large but transportable water tank. In it, barely clad nymphs (her daughters) would frolic for the pleasure of an audience (mostly men) who

  hadn’t come to see Shakespeare. Ma called her first revue ‘Splash Me!’. It was prurient, and it sold well. The only problem, her grandson later claimed, was that the tank broke

  one evening and ‘eventually drowned the band . . . Seriously drowned!’ (Asked by the interviewer how someone could be ‘unseriously drowned’, the grandson was vague:

  ‘Yes, anyway . . .’)




  Neither Peg nor Cissie Marks was a beauty, but they were young and in good enough shape, and they could always be supplemented by any interchangeable showgirl willing to appear nearly naked and

  drench herself for pay on a music hall stage. Historically, aquacades have not ranked high in the aesthetic hierarchy of live performance, but even in its own category ‘Splash Me!’

  challenged good taste, particularly when Ma directed the girls to eat bananas underwater. With ‘Splash Me!’, audiences throughout southern England knew precisely what they had come to

  see. So did local officials. But Ma got around whatever Watch Committee happened to have jurisdiction by tinting the water lighter or darker depending on the degree of likely censorship in that

  particular venue. Always cagey, she took a preemptively patriotic posture during World War I by dyeing the tank water red or white or blue and daring the prudes to criticize such a public-spirited

  celebration.




  Water was not Ma Ray’s only medium. For many years she got her daughter Peg to stand onstage in a flesh-toned leotard. This seems to have been the essential point of the act, though its

  artistic justification took the form of Peg’s brother Bert projecting slides on her body that miraculously dressed her as any number of famous ladies – Queen Victoria, Elizabeth I, the

  Statue of Liberty. Peg appeared in other forms as well. One in particular, a chestnut skit starring Peg as a libidinous charwoman, served well as the warm-up for the water tank.




  They were theatre people, the Marks/Rays, and Ma was not overly concerned with her children’s sex lives, though she’s said to have set a strict moral tone during work hours. Peg

  attempted marriage with a fellow named Ayers, but it didn’t work and soon she was single again and back with Ma. In 1921, with Peg a divorcee pushing twenty-five, Ma felt the need to go

  husband hunting on her daughter’s behalf. An added incentive for the matriarch was that her car, an enormous showy red thing, needed a driver. And so she found Bill

  Sellers.




  • • •




  They were playing Portsmouth. Her new production (either ‘More Splashes’ or ‘Have a Dip!’, there’s some dispute) had just opened at the

  King’s Theatre. It was the roaring twenties in England, which is to say that the tank water was clear and the censors weren’t troubled. Peg and Ma were seated in a café listening

  to the piano player’s rendition of ‘I’m Forever Blowing Bubbles’ and Ma liked what she heard. She asked the man if he could drive a car and promptly hired him.




  Bill Sellers – actually Seller at the time – was a Yorkshireman (Bingley, to be precise), a fact that couldn’t have worried Ma Ray, and he was a Protestant, which might have

  bothered her but didn’t. Bill did not possess a powerful personality. And it may have evaporated further after he married Peg. Spike Milligan, who met him in the 1940s, once described him:

  ‘Bill, I think, is kept in the clothes cupboard. I see his cigarette smoke filtering through the keyhole. Poor Bill – the original man who never was; he looked a pasty white and

  reminded me of those people at Belsen.’




  • • •




  Peg and Bill married in London at the Bloomsbury Register Office in 1923. The marriage certificate lists the bride as ‘Agnes Doreen Ayers, formerly Marks’; the

  groom’s name is down as ‘Seller’. The ceremony was brief and the reception nonexistent, since Ma spirited Peg off immediately afterwards to perform the charlady routine while Bill

  rushed off in another direction to play the piano for another act. They moved – Peg and Bill and Ma – into a boarding house in Highgate, North London.




  Peg’s first pregnancy began soon thereafter. She kept performing. They were on tour in Dublin when the baby was born and died. According to Bert Marks’s wife, Vera, ‘We were

  told that we were never, never to refer to that child. It was as if he had never existed.’ But by remaining entirely unspoken, of course, baby Peter’s death came to dominate the

  family’s emotional life for years to come.




  Peg’s second pregnancy began at the end of 1924, and once again it did not stand in the way of her performing schedule. Neither did labour. She was onstage in the

  middle of a routine in Southsea on the evening of 8 September 1925 when contractions began, and, trouper that she was, since she had no understudy she went right on with the show. After the curtain

  fell Bill hauled her into the big red heap of a Ford, got her back to their lodgings, and summoned a doctor. And so Richard Henry Seller, the second boy they had called Peter, was born. One week

  later Peg was back onstage.


  

  Peter Sellers, a showbiz baby, was carried onstage two weeks into his life by Dickie Henderson, who encouraged the audience to join him in singing ‘For He’s

  a Jolly Good Fellow’. Little Pete instantly burst into tears and the audience erupted into laughter and applause. From Pete’s perspective, this emotional scenario was played out more or

  less consistently until his death in 1980.




  • • •




  ‘Fun Showers’. ‘Mermaids’. ‘Ripples’. Hampshire. Kent. Suffolk. Trunks, boarding houses, Ma and the inevitable water tank . . . Baby Pete was

  dragged around with Ray Brothers, Ltd, and never had a home. He was pressed into theatrical service at the age of two and a half when Peg secured the little blond boy into a cute

  white-tie-and-tails outfit complete with a top hat, thrust a cane into his tiny hands, and forced him onstage to sing the sentimental ‘My Old Dutch’. The boy detested the piece and made

  his criticism physical by stamping on the hat.




  Attendance at Miss Whitney’s Dancing Academy in Southsea was equally short-lived (discipline problems). But when the child cared to perform his own routines on his own terms, he was a

  natural. And he liked it. His Aunt Vera, whom he called Auntie Ve, used to accompany him to the front at Southsea so he could play at conducting an orchestra for amused passers-by. She also took

  him to see Peter Pan in London, where, inspired by the onstage Peter’s ability to fly, one daring little boy in the balcony attempted to hurl himself off the ledge. Auntie Ve

  restrained him.




  Peg and Bill saw their son as their best ticket to theatrical easy street, a role the son resented. As Auntie Ve once recalled, ‘They all thought, “This is where we sit back and

  Peter will make us a fortune.’ ” Defiant at an early age, though, young Pete refused to cooperate. Hired for £5 to pose for an advertisement, he shunned all the

  photographer’s directions and then flatly refused to take on any more modelling assignments.




  ‘He was a little monster.’ This was Auntie Ve on the subject of her nephew. ‘He had far too many people worshipping him. A good smacking would have done

  him the world of good.’ Her husband, Uncle Bert, agreed: ‘If Peg had to go out of the room for a minute, he would set up a yell you could hear in the Portsmouth dockyards on

  payday.’




  Discipline played no role in Peter Sellers’s upbringing. Once, after he pushed one of his aunties into the fireplace – with a fire in it – Peg’s response was simply to

  say that ‘it’s the kind of mischief any boy would get into at his age’. After all, she was his mother.




  • • •




  Still, it was a peculiar kind of worship, since Peg alternately doted on and abandoned the boy according to her own needs. She gave him whatever he wanted when she was there,

  but then she went off on tour and left him in the care of one of the aunts. Peg and Bill did take Pete along with them sometimes, but their care of him was still sporadic, not to mention

  risk-prone. In the midst of a fierce Yorkshire winter, with Peg and Bill appearing in something called The Sideshow and the child being carted back and forth between a chilly boarding house

  and the spartan dressing rooms of the Keighley Hippodrome, Pete developed bronchial pneumonia.




  The stink of stale fish in strange hotels was the price Peter Sellers paid for staying with his parents when they were working. It was a sad childhood, and he hated it. ‘I really

  didn’t like that period of my life as a kid,’ he once declared. ‘I didn’t like the touring. I didn’t like the smell of grease paint. It used to hit you when you went

  into any stage door. Grease paint and baritones with beer on their breath and makeup on their collar . . . All these voices: ‘Hello, how are you, little sonny boy? Are you all right little

  boy there? (Who is he?)’ I used to spend my time sitting in dressing rooms.’




  There were, of course, moments when Peter found joy in the work of entertainers. One act in particular contributed greatly to young Peter’s appreciation of the absurd. He loved Fred

  Roper’s Midgets. They played with trained dogs and jumped through hoops and were the same size as Pete, despite the fact that they had deep voices and smoked cigars. The midget act’s

  merry idiocy spoke to him.




  Tragedy provided Pete’s salvation from the stinking backstages. Ma Ray died in 1932, and the company quickly slid. Bill and Peg and the uncles were forced to take work with other troupes,

  and Pete got to stay at home a bit more with one or the other of his parents.




  • • •




  Peter Sellers had just turned six years old in September 1931 when Britain went off the gold standard; by 1932, his cast-adrift parents had discovered a

  new way of making money. They called it ‘golding’. It was, in essence, a scam. Bill, Peg and Peg’s brother Bert would climb into Bert’s car with little Pete in tow;

  they’d drive out of London to some remote village or other and go house to house convincing the naive locals that they represented the London Gold Refiners Company, Ltd, a non-existent firm

  that paid equally fictitious prices for gold. The locals had no idea what their jewellery was worth; Peg did, and she profited. The only ‘refined’ aspect of the company was the phony

  accent Pete’s mother assumed as she relieved people of their bracelets and chains. Although Pete was kept out of sight in the car during these swindles, he still claimed as an adult to

  remember hearing his mother’s performances in the gold trade. Even at the time the boy considered them to be a step up from what he had heard her do onstage.




  Bill, meanwhile, formed a ukulele duo with a man named Lewis, which meant that he was often on the road. With the already spectral Bill vanishing completely when he went out on tour, Pete was

  left entirely in his mother’s care. The Sellers family’s life was made even more transitory by the fact that they kept changing homes; moving was easier than paying the rent. ‘I

  had the constant feeling I was a mole on the lam,’ Sellers recalled. ‘I kept longing for another more glamorous existence – for a different me, you might say. Maybe that was the

  beginning of my capacity for really becoming somebody else.’




  Still, the Sellerses cut a particular swathe as they chased around London; they kept entirely to the north of the city. The family’s locus classicus, established by Ma Ray, was Hackney. Ma

  lived with Peg and Bill in Islington, East Finchley and Highgate; after she died the Sellerses moved around in Camden Town. Apart from brute geography, what linked these neighbourhoods was their

  increasing Jewishness. Whitechapel, the East London neighbourhood in which Daniel Mendoza lived, was still the centre of Jewish life in the city (to the point of being considered a ghetto as late

  as 1900) but the North London neighbourhoods in which the Sellerses housed themselves were attracting more Jews by the year.




  All the stranger, then, that it was to St Mark’s Kindergarten that Peg Sellers sent her son. When Pete outgrew St Mark’s, she packed him off to St Aloysius, a prep school run by the

  Brothers of Our Lady of Mercy. It wasn’t simple convenience that drove Peg to pick St Aloysius, and in fact she moved to a small house in Muswell Hill Road, Highgate,

  specifically to give Peter close access to that particular Catholic school. A telling aspect about all of these shifts in residence is that family and friends – and Peter himself –

  consistently attributed the decision-making to Peg: Peg choosing the school, Peg moving with Peter, Peg, Peg, Peg. Even when Bill was there he wasn’t there. Indeed, according to Peter’s

  son, Michael, while Peg and Peter lived at Muswell Hill, Bill lived separately at Holloway.




  On still another occasion, Bill disappeared entirely, and Pete had no idea what had precipitated the departure. After a good deal of time had passed, Peg put Pete in a car, drove to Leicester

  Square, found Bill standing on the pavement as obviously promised, and took him back, leaving Pete utterly baffled.




  Pete was not a stupid boy, but he was very much an uneducated one, Peg never having stressed learning as a virtue. Originally enrolled in Form II at St Aloysius, he was quickly sent back to Form

  I, an experience he found humiliating. One of his teachers, Brother Hugh, remembered that Pete was upset at his demotion, especially because he was not only older but substantially larger than any

  of the other boys in his new class. At that point he was almost five feet tall and fairly fat, with coarsening features, dark hair and all the natural grace and poise of an expanding

  eleven-year-old. Brother Cornelius recalled that Pete looked as though he was four or five years older than he actually was, a fact that, combined with his educational under-achievement,

  exacerbated his embarrassment.




  The most striking feature of Peter Sellers’s schooldays is the fact that practically nobody remembered him. As Brother Cornelius said, ‘One always remembers the troublemakers. But

  Peter, we didn’t notice him at all.’ Scouring the many profiles, interviews, memoirs, surveys, studies and incidental trivia about the life of Peter Sellers – and there are

  libraries’ worth – one finds reference to only one schoolmate who has ever had anything to say. And what he says is rather weird.




  Bryan Connon, turned up by the deft entertainment writer Alexander Walker, appears to have been Pete’s only chum at school. ‘He wasn’t much liked,’ Connon told Walker.

  But that wasn’t a big problem, Connon continued, because ‘he seemed to have no need of friends. The retreat home to Peg was always open to him – it was the one he preferred to

  take.’ Peg’s son had to go to school, and so he might make a friend there, but Pete’s friendship with Bryan Connon stopped precisely at her front gate. He never got

  as far as her doorstep.




  Sellers himself reflected on the loneliness of his childhood: ‘Sometimes I felt glad not to be too close to people. I might have been happier, I suppose. On the

  other hand, I never had much luck with people over the years.’




  • • •




  Pete was not the only non-Catholic at St Aloysius, though he was probably the only Jew, and the brothers maintained a liberal policy of accommodation: non-Catholic boys were

  excused from prayers at their parents’ request. The strange thing is that Peg never requested it. And so Peter Sellers learned his catechism. In fact, he mastered not only its language but

  its cadence and pitch, all in perfect imitation of the Brothers of Our Lady of Mercy chanting in chapel. This skill prompted Brother Cornelius to scold Pete’s recalcitrant classmates:

  ‘The Jewish boy knows his catechism better than the rest of you!’ The problem was, of course, that it wasn’t his catechism.




  One of the few constants, apart from his mother, was the BBC.




  The loyal electromagnetic friend of lonely boys, the radio carried more than simple entertainment into the restricted world within which Peg had barricaded her son. There was nothing radical on

  the BBC’s airwaves, but the middlebrow comedians and variety acts that formed, along with news and sports, the backbone of British broadcasting showed Peter Sellers a way out of his

  mother’s tight domestic trap. However little he understood it at the time (or ever), the blandly funny Misters Muddlecombe, Murgatroyd and Winterbottom, the stately bands, the hours of

  forgettable patter – all were a subtly defiant rejection of Peg and her otherwise incessant grip.




  He particularly loved the variety show Monday Night at Seven. (The title and time were later changed to Monday Night at Eight.) Pete listened to it every week, as did Bryan Connon,

  though always in separate houses. On Tuesdays they’d discuss it in exacting detail on their walk home from school, with Peter tossing off all the best comedy bits against Bryan’s

  straight man. ‘He had a gift for improvising dialogue,’ Connon remembers. ‘I’d be the straight man, the feed, and all the way up Archway Road I’d cue Peter and

  he’d do all the radio personalities and chuck in a few voices of his own invention as well.’ The fun would last only as long as the walk, though, for once they reached Peg’s gate

  it was all over. Pete said goodbye and that was the end of that.




  With its heavy quotient of solitude and an awkwardness both physical and social, Peter Sellers’s youth might have carried along a third

  component: sexual immaturity. But no. Describing his adolescence to Alexander Walker, Sellers described his own youthful randiness: ‘I found out how much I liked girls and how much they liked

  me – or said they did.’




  It started early. Not coincidentally, his entrance into school marked the first opportunity Pete had to spend a few hours away from Peg – and with girls his own age. It was in kindergarten

  that he fell for a child he nicknamed Sky Blue. She rejected him, but instead of the expected retreat into despair, Pete pressed forward. In fact, Pete kept after Sky Blue all the way into his

  twenties. It was all to no avail, and yet he persisted with this doomed quest for at least fifteen years, through several changes of school and neighbourhood.




  Pete’s passion for Sky Blue led him to a dawning awareness of how belittling his mother’s treatment of him was. Specifically, Peg was still dressing him in shorts, and he hated them.

  Not wishing to be regarded as a toddler by Sky Blue, he begged his mother for a pair of trousers to wear to Sky Blue’s for tea, and since Peg couldn’t bear to say no, she gave them to

  him. This is the kind of family contradiction that ties boys and girls in knots: Peter Sellers’s mother protected, controlled and belittled him, and she refused him nothing – except

  normal maturation.




  As for the outfit Peg chose for Pete’s date, it took the ridiculous form of white ducks – formal, starchy things that humiliatingly made him resemble a tiny aristocrat or waiter.

  Pete wore the ducks to tea and quickly pissed them in a nervous attack. Since white ducks tend to be rather less impressive with a fresh yellow stain spreading around the crotch, the date was a

  fiasco.




  Even this severe disgrace failed to dampen Peter Sellers’s affections, which in itself indicates an unusual psyche for a boy. A less single-minded kid might have given up and moved on, his

  love turned self-protectively to hate. But Pete was either impervious to punishment or, more likely, a glutton for it, and pressed forward. This time he used performance as his chief means of

  seduction. In this way Sky Blue became Peter Sellers’s first audience – apart, of course, from his devoted mother.




  ‘I found that Sky Blue had a movie hero, Errol Flynn,’ he recalled. ‘I’d seen him in Dawn Patrol and that was good enough. The next day I put on his voice, his

  accent, his mannerisms. I even threw in a background of aeroplane and machine-gun noises for good measure. All to impress Sky Blue.’ But the girl was a tough

  audience; the performance wasn’t a hit. ‘She’d switched her affections. Now she was a fan of Robert Donat’s. So I went to any Donat films I could find playing –

  fortunately for me he was a prolific actor – and went through the whole act again with his voice. No luck this time, either.’




  Rainer Werner Fassbinder once remarked that Steven Spielberg always wanted to be a little boy when he grew up. With Peter Sellers, it was neither a matter of choice nor desire. Consider his

  formative years: Peg’s incessant doting and catering to his every whim; his parents’ nomadic existence throughout his childhood; the school merry-go-round and subsequent demotion at St

  Aloysius, which effectively made it impossible to bond with anyone his own age and size; the lack of any religious identity (or, better, the abundance of religions at his disposal); the absent

  father, both figuratively and literally; the obsessive pursuit of a girl who didn’t want him. With whatever degree of intent, Peg and Bill Sellers did a splendid job of creating an

  emotionally spoiled, spiritually amoebic mother’s boy, whose innate and fierce talent for mimicry allowed him not only to perpetuate but to depend on and enjoy his own evacuated

  personality.




  • • •




  While the dreariness of Peter Sellers’s childhood paved the way only to the awkward joylessness of being the big fat Jew of St Aloysius, the grey chill of his prep school

  years yielded, thanks to international politics in the late 1930s, to a dawning awareness of his own potential annihilation. He had just turned thirteen when thoughts of mass suffocation drifted

  into his head as well as everyone else’s in the kingdom. Second World War was beginning.




  In the last week of September 1938, with Hitler on the brink of attacking Czechoslovakia and the skies of London increasingly dotted with barrage balloons, the government bestowed 38 million gas

  masks on the British people. Men, women, and children got them; babies, too young to know the difference, were written off.




  The historian Angus Calder describes the British people’s mood as they tried on their new headgear at the dawn of the new era: ‘Fitting on these grotesque combinations of pig-snout

  and death’s-head, sniffing the gas-like odour of rubber and disinfectant inside them, millions imagined the dangers ahead more clearly. Symptoms of panic appeared.’ The imaginative

  Briton, Calder writes, ‘saw in his mind’s eye not the noble if heart-rending scenes of 1915, not the flower of the nation marching away to fight in a foreign

  land, but his own living-room smashed, his mother crushed, his children maimed, corpses in familiar streets, a sky black with bombers, the air itself poisoned with gas.’




  Pete’s fourteenth birthday occurred at the end of the week in which Great Britain declared war on Germany. Along with millions of Britishmen, the Brothers of Our Lady of Mercy ran for

  cover to the countryside as St Aloysius was evacuated to a town in Cambridgeshire. Peg, who had opened a Highgate trinket shop at the time, claimed to be unable to move to Cambridgeshire at such

  short notice.




  Perhaps it ought to go without saying, but Peg was unwilling to send her son so far away (two and a half hours by train) without her. So she immediately yanked him out of school, and that was

  the end of Peter Sellers’s education.




  She was assisted, however unintentionally, by the government. September 1, 1939 had been set as the date on which children would be required to remain at school to the age of fifteen rather than

  fourteen, but the war necessitated a postponement. Had it not been for Second World War, Peter Sellers might have received at least one more year’s worth of education.




  But no matter. Peg was very pleased to have him by her side all day long, and that was what counted.




  • • •




  In September 1939, when the Nazis attacked Poland and Britain declared war on Germany, the government issued gas masks, mobilized troops, and evacuated nearly four million

  citizens out of the cities and into the countryside. On the BBC, the immensely popular radio comedian Tommy Handley turned the onrushing catastrophe into an absurd extended joke. Handley’s

  new show, It’s That Man Again, featured a series of recurring characters with funny voices, a taste for puns, and a brand of humour that would have fallen flat with any audience but

  the British. In one routine, Handley played the Minister of Aggravation, a joint venture between Agriculture and Information:




  

    

      HANDLEY: To all concerned in the Office of Twerps! Take notice that from today , September the twenty-tooth, I, the Minister of Aggravation, have power

      to confiscate, complicate, and commandeer—




      ASSISTANT: How do you spell commandeer, Mr Hanwell?




      HANDLEY: Commandeer – let me see. (Singing:) Comm-on-and-ear, comm-on-and-ear, Tommy Handley’s wag-time band! Comm-on-and-ear. . .! Er, where

      were we? I have the power to seize anything on sight!




      ASSISTANT: Oh, Mr Handpump! And me sitting so close to you!


    


  




  Fun, filth, and playing to the crowd: Pete was inspired.




  Britain was profoundly rattled by the war, but by and large the British people didn’t go berserk at the prospect, their mood at the start of this international catastrophe an improvement

  over the previous generation’s histrionic reaction to the so-called Great War. (The declaration of war on Germany in August 1914 is said to have sparked the stoning of hapless dachshunds in

  the streets.) In fact, because there was so little combat at first, British wags took to calling it the ‘Bore War’.




  Pete helped his mum in her shop. His only friend, Bryan Connon from St Aloysius, was now his former only friend, having been dispatched along with the other schoolboys to Cambridgeshire. Connon

  never heard from Sellers again. With no contact with boys his own age, nor any men except his always-in-the-background father – even the celibate monks of St Aloysius were more spirited role

  models – Pete’s social world now consisted essentially of his mother and the BBC. Together in their north London flat, Pete with his radio and Peg with her trinkets, they endured the

  coldest winter London had weathered in forty-five years.




  And the blackouts. Once a night, for a few minutes at least, everyone in London had to tack thick curtains or dark paper over their windows or face the chastisement of police or patrolling air

  raid wardens. Blackouts were a matter of national security, of course; lights provided targets for Nazi bombers. But in the Sellers household, blackout curtains served as the physical manifestation

  of Peg’s goal as a mother – they sealed her son away with her. The outside world could never love him as much as she did, so he had to be kept in isolation.




  As particular as Pete’s situation was, however, his countrymen were also experiencing a deep and sometimes morbidly comical sense of disconnection. Plunged into blackness every night, not

  only were the British people forced to sequester themselves behind dark curtains at home, but the enforced murk of London streets at night led to pratfalls. All told, an astounding one in five

  people injured themselves during the blackouts – walking headlong into trees and lamp posts, bumping against people, even just losing their way in the dark chaos of

  an otherwise familiar lane and tumbling off the kerb. Nightlife had suddenly turned into a series of scary and nonsensical comedy routines.




  The Bore War, or ‘Funny War’ as it was also known, grew less boring in May 1940 when the Nazis’ seemingly unstoppable march to the French coast forced the humiliating

  evacuation of 220,000 British soldiers from the beaches near Dunkirk. The boredom ended absolutely on Saturday 7 September – the day before Pete’s fifteenth birthday – when German

  war-planes attacked London’s East End. Other London neighbourhoods saw the day’s cataclysm as predictive of their own fates. The Blitz lasted a full two and a half months, and German

  ships began massing off the coast of France. The possibility of an outright invasion of Britain became a much less abstract notion.




  When the bombing began, Peg and Pete ran, along with countless other terrified Londoners, to the nearest Underground station, which in their case happened to be Highgate. A few weeks later, the

  Sellers’s flat suffered a bit of damage during a bombing raid. The apartment was certainly inhabitable and the shop could have survived, but it was a close enough call to convince Peg to shut

  the business, pack the trinkets and all the family’s furniture, and spirit Pete swiftly and safely away from London.




  As their refuge, she chose the town of Ilfracombe on the north coast of Devon. Even apart from the fact that a brother worked in a theatre there, escaping to Ilfracombe was a sensible move on

  Peg’s part. There was nothing there worth bombing – unless, of course, the Nazis decided to target picturesque seaside resorts for obliteration by firestorm.




  







  T  W  O




  ‘The little watering hole of Ilfracombe is seated at the lower verge of one of these seaward-plunging valleys, between a couple of

  magnificent headlands which hold it in a hollow slope and offer it securely to the caress of the Bristol Channel . . . On the left of the town (to give an example) one of the great cliffs I have

  mentioned rises in a couple of massive peaks and presents to the sea an almost vertical face, all muffled in tufts of golden broom and mighty fern.’ This is Henry James describing Peter

  Sellers’s new location, if not his new home, albeit half a century earlier.




  It was in Ilfracombe that Peter Sellers, an unemployed adolescent, returned to the theatre, and he did so partly in response to the conflicting influences of his parents. After he became famous,

  Sellers spoke often about his theatrical grandmother, his mother’s performing career, his own bitter childhood backstage and his profoundly ambivalent feelings about the world of show

  business. He rarely spoke about his father, who throughout Peter’s youth kept up sporadic employment as a musician of little note. But in 1974 Sellers mentioned to Michael Parkinson of the

  BBC a reflective detail that suggests that Bill Sellers was not simply a blank slate on which his wife and son wrote nothing. Bill’s confidence in Peter, at times at least, bore an inverse

  relation to Peg’s: Peg’s was infinite, Bill’s could be utterly void. Was it in defiance of Bill’s paternal defeatism that Peter pursued his career? ‘Dad was convinced

  always that I was going to be a road sweeper,’ Sellers told Parkinson with a laugh. ‘And he always was very encouraging: “So you’ll turn out to be a bloody road sweeper,

  will you? I’ll tell you that!” ’




  ‘See,’ Peter continued, ‘my mum very much wanted me to go into the theatre.’ So that is what he did.




  Through the nepotism of Stanley Parkin, a family friend who operated an Ilfracombe theatre and had hired Peg’s brother to work there, Pete got his first job:

  caretaker at ten shillings per week. Promotion followed, as suited an adolescent: box office clerk and usher; assistant stage manager and lighting operator; and, eventually, actor, though as he

  told Parkinson, only in bit parts ‘like (officious servant voice) “Your carriage is without!” or (decrepit old man voice) “Hello!” or something like this – minor

  niddly tiddly poo things’.




  Because of the upswing in touring companies during the war, young Pete also got a glimpse or two of real theatre. Ilfracombe was hardly comparable to the pre-war West End (and there seem to have

  been no fond memories of Peg ever having taken him to see plays in London), but instead of the carnival acts he witnessed during his early childhood with Ray Brothers, Ltd, Sellers’s

  backstage jobs in Ilfracombe earned him the chance to see a few sophisticated actors playing complex parts: ‘I saw some very famous actors come to that theatre – Paul Scofield was one

  in Night Must Fall with Mary Clare.’




  Somehow he made a new friend. When his uncle and Stanley Parkin hired him to work in the theatre, they also brought in a boy named Derek Altman, with whom Pete launched his first stage act. They

  called themselves Altman and Sellers; they played ukuleles and sang and told jokes. Despite winning first prize in a weekly talent show – a cynic might conclude that their jobs as ushers and

  box office staff at Pete’s uncle’s theatre played some role in this triumph – the duo soon disbanded. During this time, Pete and Derek, having developed a fondness for the novels

  of Dashiell Hammett, were also inspired to found their own detective agency and even had business cards printed to that effect. An unfortunate incident put a quick end to the enterprise: a

  humourless adult reached over and ripped Pete’s fake moustache off his lip.




  • • •




  When a swing band turned up at the theatre for a week-long gig, Pete discovered a new talent. He’d heard drums before, of course, but he’d never had the chance to

  create all that rhythmic racket himself, so one afternoon, when he found a set of drums onstage for Joe Daniels and His Hot Shots, Pete let loose. The bandleader/drummer caught him mid-act. Daniels

  wasn’t angry. Appreciating the teenager’s enthusiasm and nascent talent, he ended up giving Pete pointers for the rest of the week, after which Pete begged his

  parents for drums and steady lessons. Unable to resist his whims let alone his wants, they came through.




  Drumming suited him. Banging in time, Pete could envelope himself in a world of near-total abstraction, all in the context of a great deal of noise. What aggression he felt as an awkward fat

  child could be expelled, at least in part, by methodically hitting things, all in a socially respectable and even artistic manner – one that might eventually pay off at that, though

  drummers’ lowly status in the music world tended to be fodder for jokes. (Did you hear about the drummer who went to college? Me neither.)




  Jokes aside, Peg was pleased by Pete’s enthusiasm for a performing art. Bill went along.




  • • •




  At the time, whole areas of Britain were turning to dust. In a single ten-hour period in mid-November 1940, German warplanes dropped hundreds of tons of bombs on the medieval

  city centre of Coventry, effectively flattening it. The Germans coined a new verb: to Coventrate, meaning to devastate the psychological as well as the physical heart of a population. London

  was so immense that despite the hundreds of thousands of bombs raining down it could not be obliterated, at least not with the technology available at the time. But the centre of Bristol could

  – and was. (Bristol is about eighty miles away from Ilfracombe as the crow, or German warplane, flies.) So were parts of Birmingham and Southampton. By the beginning of 1941, the people of

  Britain were taking a sustained hit and the aftershocks of their direct experience of war continued to rumble in the British psyche for many years to come.




  Relatively safe in Ilfracombe, Pete turned sixteen in September 1941. In addition to girls, he was developing an interest in communication with the dead. He began turning to the clairvoyant

  mother of a friend for cheer and solace when the radio wasn’t enough. For whatever reasons, disembodied voices spoke to Pete as meaningfully as those attached to people close at hand, if not

  more so. He believed in them.




  Meanwhile, the radio show It’s That Man Again (ITMA for short) had become an even bigger hit, and even more exciting for Peter. One writer has gone as far as to claim that

  Tommy Handley was ‘probably the most popular man in the country after Churchill’. (‘That Man’, by the way, wasn’t Handley; it was Hitler.) Along with Monday Night

  at Eight, ITMA was the BBC’s attempt to infuse its more steadfast offerings with fast-paced, American-style patter. According to the historian Asa Briggs,

  ‘ITMA was vox mundi, rich in all the sounds of war and with more invented characters than Walt Disney.’ Pete Sellers of Ilfracombe found it inspiring.




  • • •




  Given his bedrock peculiarities, one of the most unexpected aspects of Peter Sellers’s life is his extraordinary talent for sexual seduction. It began in earnest in

  Ilfracombe. His scores weren’t just the bravado of a deficient adult embellishing his youthful conquests. That Sellers went on to enjoy a rampant sex life with some of the world’s most

  gorgeous women suggests that he really did have something going for him and that women responded to it. Still, even he admitted that his early dates were the product of desperate pretence.

  Believing that the real Peter Sellers wasn’t much of anything, Pete told the girls that he was a talent agent who’d dropped in on Ilfracombe to scout for future stars. ‘I’d

  take the girls out to Bull’s Point, opposite the lighthouse,’ he fondly remembered, ‘and get them to audition for me – songs, patter, dances. The ones who “won”

  were generally those with the most talent for being friendly.’ These performances filled the ever-expanding subdivisions of his personality: ‘I enjoyed the impersonation for the feeling

  of power it gave me. Nobody paid that kind of attention to Pete Sellers.’




  Remarkably, the fake talent agent persona itself wasn’t enough for him, so Sellers accomplished these missions of love while wearing a trench coat in imitation of Humphrey Bogart, a hat

  like William Powell’s and even the beloved paste-on moustache to make him look a little more like Clark Gable, all in addition to the now-standard Robert Donat voice. These overlapping

  disguises testify to the lengths Peter Sellers went to deny who he was – or wasn’t.




  • • •




  It was 1943, the grim middle of the war, and Pete was approaching the age of conscription. The Irish-born wartime novelist Elizabeth Bowen described the country’s mood

  that year: ‘Every day the news hammered one more nail into a consciousness which no longer resounded. Everywhere hung the heaviness of the even worse you could not be

  told and could not desire to hear. This was the lightless middle of the tunnel.’




  Bill Sellers, being rather at home in a murk with no end in sight, took one of the most decisive actions of his life. With his son turning into a talented drummer, Bill formed a quartet, with

  Pete on percussion. At first they played only in North Devon, but gigs followed further afield, and by summer they were all the way up in Lytham St Annes on the coast of Lancashire. Bill, whose

  confidence in Peter’s future had once been shaky, grew fond of his drumming. ‘He proved a wizard at it,’ Bill later said. To enhance the boy’s reputation, Bill had business

  cards printed, citing Pete’s profession as ‘Young Ultra-Modern Swing Drummer and Uke Entertainer’. This burst of confidence on Bill’s part leads to unanswerable questions:

  Was Bill’s lack of confidence in Peter’s abilities actually invented by Peter out of resentment for Bill’s frequent absences, or out of loyalty to his darling mother, or simply

  out of a mischievous desire to embellish a frankly conventional father-to-son chastisement into a weightier tale of victimization?




  No one knows, but the cards appear to have worked, perhaps too well, for soon Pete was heading out on his own. He took a job with a band from Blackpool further up the coast. Peg was not happy.

  His band having broken up upon the drummer’s departure, Bill joined the Entertainments National Service Association. ENSA had been founded at the start of the war as a network of

  morale-boosting, ever-touring diversions for soldiers and factory workers. ENSA’s mandate was to bring entertainment not only to workers and servicemen within Great Britain but to British

  workers and servicemen anywhere in the world – a global music hall. By the war’s end more than four out of every five British actors, musicians, costumers, comedians, stage managers,

  acrobats and clowns had found employment, however temporary, with ENSA. It’s an impressive statistic as statistics go, but what it really reflects is the extent to which the British

  entertainment barrel’s wartime bottom had to be scraped. For every great ENSA discovery – Terry-Thomas, Tony Hancock – and every popular ENSA star – Sybil Thorndike, George

  Formby, Gracie Fields – there were at least six essentially talentless washouts who would never have been allowed onstage had dire conditions not demanded it. For them, Second World War was

  an employment bonanza. ‘We had to endure them once a month – and endure it was,’ one Surrey factory worker shuddered when recalling those compulsory amateur hours.




  Bill Sellers was in the middle range – a proficient musician who was able to provide his audience with a bit of relief from the tedium of military drill or

  assembly-line monotony. He assembled yet another band, largely from the old band, but with one addition: the ukulele master George Formby being occupied on the top tier of ENSA, Bill settled for

  George’s sister Ethel, a singer who also liked to do a Gracie Fields-like Lancashire accent comedy routine. Peg, searching for a reason to bring Pete back into the family fold, convinced Bill

  to get Pete an ENSA job as well.




  Pete himself was successfully bribed by the promise of a set of flashy new £200 drums. ‘They were the finest,’ Peg told Alexander Walker in the 1960s. ‘They had to be!

  Pete wouldn’t have looked at them if they hadn’t been. With Pete, everything had to be perfect or it wasn’t for him. And what Pete wanted, Pete got.’




  • • •




  In Taunton he got a girl. As it does for most young men, this triumph took a blend of luck and engineering. But in Pete’s case there was an added complication: Peg often

  accompanied her son and husband on their ENSA tours. According to one fellow ENSA trouper, Peg actually went as far as to sleep in Pete’s room with him, leaving Bill to find a bed somewhere

  else. But when Bill and Pete set up the band in Taunton, Peg stayed at home, fifty long miles away in Ilfracombe.




  They were billeted, along with some ENSA showgirls, in a funeral parlour. This made more sense than it may seem at first, since the undertaker happened to serve as the local ENSA manager, but

  still, it was something out of a macabre music hall sketch. The doorbell rings, an ENSA trouper answers it, and finds a corpse on the other side of the threshold.




  One of the girls was particularly unnerved by the whole experience and found it difficult to sleep with dead people in the house. She confessed her fears to Pete and maternally told him that if

  he, too, became frightened, he could always join her in her room for solace and support. He took her up on it.




  ‘It was absolutely irresistible,’ Sellers later declared. ‘Although I was still pretty young, I was no stranger to the charms of girls. But I’d never had an invitation

  issued to me in such plausible circumstances. So one night, in pyjamas and dressing gown, and armed to the teeth with Robert Donat accents, I found my way along to the girl’s room. Feigning

  fear, and trembling with what I hoped she’d think was fright, I got into bed with her. The only mistake I made was that I didn’t take off a stitch in advance

  – it was a far from ideal state for impetuous lovemaking.’




  Peter Sellers was no longer a virgin. Quickly thereafter he was no longer an ENSA trouper either, Bill having discovered his son’s sexual success. He dispatched the boy back to Peg.




  But drumming had sparked Pete’s ambition to the point that even Peg Sellers was forced to contend with the fact that her son couldn’t simply stay with her forever doing nothing, and

  soon he was playing gigs with the radio bandleaders Oscar Rabin and Henry Hall. Finding work outside ENSA wasn’t terribly difficult at the time, given the scarcity of musicians during the

  war. But sometimes he had to take what was available, no matter what. Thus, Waldini and His Gypsy Band – an elderly Welshman and a group with bandannas on their heads. ‘Waldini’

  was no master musician, but he was even worse at finding his way from town to town; getting lost seems to have been one of Waldini’s greatest talents. One day, directionless in the middle of

  a Lancashire nowhere, Pete decided he’d had enough and returned again to Peg.




  For Peter Sellers, these back-and-forth shuttlings were his first negotiation between the absolute dependence of childhood and the relative autonomy of young adulthood. All adolescents go

  through it. But in Sellers’s case, his fledgling freedom was doubly crippled by the vacuum that passed for a core self – his ego was made up of multiplying electrons soaring around no

  nucleus – and a dependence on his mother that verged on obscenity. (Unlike Freud’s version of the Oedipus myth, Peter never had to challenge his father for his mother’s affections

  because Bill was figuratively impotent already.) The overgrown boy was turning into an undergrown man, with ludicrous results. At one point he landed in Brighton and took a job at a cinema. He

  called Peg one day on the telephone and announced that he had proposed to his landlady’s daughter the night before and was now compelled to follow through. Outraged and panicking, Peg and her

  entourage – Bill, Auntie Ve and Auntie Cissie – sped to Brighton and yanked him home, whereupon he took a job in a circus and proposed to a girl from a sideshow.




  ‘Although I was on my own at last, I hated the life,’ he later said. ‘I felt lonely. I felt trapped. I missed Peg, who’d always entertained me when things were black.




  ‘It put the final seal on my dislike of show business,’ Sellers went on, ‘of having to entertain. I thought to myself, “There must be less

  humiliating ways of being pushed around.”’




  He managed to find such a way: by joining the Royal Air Force. That military service turned out to be less a source of complaint for him than entertainment work provides a stark measure of

  Sellers’s ambivalence towards his lifelong career.




  • • •




  Military service was compulsory at the time; barring some physical or mental abnormality, one was conscripted, and that was that. So it was not unusual that after his birthday

  in September 1943 Peter Sellers enlisted in the RAF. Spike Milligan, who heard Sellers’s tales some years later, describes Peg’s predictable reaction: ‘She must have gone through

  the entire medical encyclopedia to find a disease that would get Pete back into civvy street, back into her loving care and protection: “He’s got flat feet! He’s got a flat head!

  Flat ears! He’s even got flat teeth!” ’ It was all to no avail; Peg’s chubby son became 2223033 Airman Second Class Sellers, P.




  Pete was a mother’s boy, but he wasn’t a coward. Airman Sellers thought he’d like to be a pilot. This goal might be written off now as the glamorous reverie of a callow

  dreamer, but it was a wartime dream, which is to say that when Sellers signed up for military service, real planes were crashing every day and real pilots were dying. It was a bitter disappointment

  for him when RAF doctors found that his eyesight wasn’t quite up to the task of piloting. Turned down for flight training, Pete ended up nothing better than ground crew.




  Sellers’s entry into military service was doubly depressing for him since the other airmen weren’t at all dazzled by the fact that he could play the drums. Pete, who needed much more

  attention than he got whenever he was away from his mother, found his mood rapidly sinking.




  So Peg stepped in to soothe him. Since he hadn’t been transferred overseas yet, she was free to become a kind of camp follower, trooping after him the way Marlene Dietrich trails Gary

  Cooper at the end of Morocco (1930), except, of course, that Dietrich is Cooper’s lover, not his mother.




  As befitted her role, Peg cooked his meals for him, RAF mess halls not being good enough for her special boy. And not surprisingly, Peg demonstrated an extraordinary knack for procuring good

  food for Pete, despite stringent wartime rationing. Eggs, butter, milk, sugar, tea – all were in short supply. Peg got them.




  Pete soon found a way out of military drudgery by resuming his performing career; it was better to risk demeaning himself onstage and harbour the hope of applause than

  to demean himself daily as an aircraft technician. He approached Ralph Reader, the head of an RAF entertainment unit called the Gang Shows, and asked to be auditioned. When Reader asked him what

  exactly he did onstage, Sellers answered that he played drums and did Tommy Handley bits from ITMA. Entering the auditorium the following day for the audition, Reader had the peculiar

  experience of hearing himself singing ‘We’re Riding Along on the Crest of a Wave’, the Gang Show theme song, to the great amusement of a group of seated airmen who should have

  been busy cleaning the theatre. The airmen noticed the officer and stood at attention; Sellers kept on singing – until he, too, saw Reader staring at him in disbelief. ‘Well,’

  Pete said resignedly to Reader, ‘do you want a drink or do I get jankers?’




  For a mimic so accurate, jankers – otherwise known as fatigues – was unlikely, and when Reader heard Sellers drum, he knew for certain that he had a workable act. Sellers turned out

  to have other skills. Beyond the drumming, for which Pete was soon showcased, Reader’s Gang Shows offered Pete his first chance to be a comedian onstage. Doing short stand-up routines as well

  as group skits, he played to troops across Britain before transferring overseas.




  Jack Cracknell, who ran the Gang Show office in London, remembered being bedevilled by a characteristically persistent Peg, who tried every means to convince him – behind her son’s

  back, of course – that Pete should be kept safe on British shores.




  Once again, she lost. Peter Sellers was sent all the way to India.




  • • •




  The precise sequence of Peter Sellers’s service career is vague. As formative as his travels in Asia were to him – think of the many mannerly Indians he impersonated

  over the years – it’s unclear just how much time he actually spent there. Sellers himself once claimed to have spent three years in the East, an impossible length of time given the fact

  that he also served in France and occupied Germany after the war ended and was back at his mother’s house by the end of 1946. As Graham Stark, one of his closest friends, puts it: ‘He

  was a great one for the fantasies. He used to boast – God knows why – that he was descended from Lord Nelson!’




  However long Peter Sellers spent in Asia – we know he was in and around Calcutta in December 1944 – the people he saw and heard there made such an impression

  on him that he couldn’t help but return the compliment by picking up speech patterns that would last a lifetime. These early impersonations may even have included the complete get-up, skin

  tone and all. Sellers once claimed that while in India with the RAF he went as far as to rub brown pancake makeup on his face and hands and wrap his head in a turban so as to pass himself off as a

  Sikh.




  But it was the impersonation of officers – a more dangerous stunt, because he could be court-martialled for it – that became a standard routine during Sellers’s military

  career. He claimed that he’d first pulled the prank on Christmas Eve 1944, in the city of Agartala, most of the way to the Burmese border, in Assam. Sellers’s rationale for the stunt

  was, characteristically, both tortured and foreseeable:




  ‘I’d never spent Christmas Eve in a hot country, and I was far away from home, and I was thinking, “My mum wants me at home.” ’ His Pegsickness led to an excess of

  Christmas cheer: ‘In those days we were sort of drinking a bit, you know.’ (Sellers is employing the royal ‘we’.) ‘We don’t drink any more of course –

  wine, wine, just wine, you know – and I remember getting very drunk. And I thought, “I’m a twit to sit here and do this when I could be in the officers’ mess.” ’

  So he ‘found’ some insignia of suitably impossible rank and off he went, straight to the officers’ club with a new identity.




  Since it was the middle of the night, there was ‘only one lone old twit sitting in the corner’. Plastered as he was, the old officer still managed to question Sellers as to how he

  could possibly have achieved the rank of air commodore at such a young age. After offering several asinine evasions, Sellers came up with this one: ‘I see in the dark, you know –

  it’s all this rum.’




  • • •




  In late 1944 and early 1945, at the time Peter Sellers found himself in India, it hadn’t been more than a few months since the subcontinent had faced the invading Japanese

  – a disaster for the Japanese. In fact, there was still intense fighting in parts of Burma in early 1945 when Peter was sent there to drum and tell jokes to exhausted British soldiers.

  Sellers seems never to have been very near the front, but the same can’t be said of his audiences. In Britain, some of the airmen for whom he performed were regularly

  flying bombing missions over Germany. In India and Burma, they were fighting jungle fever as well as their fierce enemy. As such, they were a peculiar audience. As soldiers they were tough. As

  combat-weary men in need of distraction, they were easy.




  A bit of personal comic relief occurred for Peter when, somewhere on the subcontinental road show of Second World War combat variety, he bumped into none other than the great Welsh Waldini and

  his band of English gypsies. Still in their bandannas, Waldini and his band were gamely criss-crossing India playing their standby Hungarian tunes for homesick British fighting men.




  Pete’s stint in Asia was necessarily his first extended separation from Peg. Psychologically, he took a notable turn. She remained on his mind, of course, but he wrote to her rarely, if

  ever. Earlier, when he left her behind to tour around England with his father, ENSA or the Gang Shows, he’d had no need of pen and paper; the telephone was easier. But now, given the choice

  between letter writing and nothing, Pete, conspicuously, chose nothing.




  • • •




  One reason was that Peter was necessarily thrown together with his fellow Gang Show performers, billeted in close quarters, and was rarely alone. One new acquaintance ended up

  sticking with him for the rest of his life, though with a few years’ hiatus after the war.




  Dennis Selinger was a theatre manager turned RAF gunner. Peter’s sharply drawn double nature struck Selinger quickly, just as it struck almost everyone with whom Sellers ever became close:

  ‘He was affable, easy, very funny when the mood was on him; at other times withdrawn, uncommunicative.’




  They met in overheated, overstuffed Calcutta, Sellers fresh from a gig in the jungle, when a turn of events occurred that would seem absurd if not for the anything-might-happen disorder of

  wartime. The two English nobodies suddenly found themselves treated to dinner by the American movie star Melvyn Douglas, who, being there, was happy to distract two war-weary soldiers.




  The Gang Shows provided a good diversion for worn out, homesick troops, and Pete was getting the attention he required. With Reader the impresario saving the best for last, Sellers’s

  drumming closed the show. A reviewer in the Bombay Sunday Standard was impressed with him to the point of clairvoyance: ‘The “baby” of the show is

  Peter Sellers, aged 19, the boy-drummer and impressionist. A big future lies before him.’




  • • •




  ‘He was a big, fat, curly-haired boy’ with ‘a big, hairy body – like a monkey,’ says Peter’s friend David Lodge, describing the way Sellers

  looked when they met. They were in Gloucester at the time, fellow Gang Show performers. Lodge recalls their meeting as having occurred just after Sellers returned from Asia, which would place it in

  1945. Then again, on another occasion Lodge dated it as occurring in 1944. More important than the exact date is the fact that they got along beautifully, amused each other greatly, and remained

  the best of friends for the rest of Peter’s life.




  Given the fact that tense and frustrated men are thrown together during wartime with other tense and frustrated men, military theatre often leans in the direction of gender humour. In short,

  Pete’s dressing-up routines included drag. Lodge himself made a point of growing a moustache to prevent his own forced march into dresses, but he notes that young Pete’s

  ‘peaches-and-cream’ complexion – a strange contrast to the hairy body – produced a ‘very convincing woman’. But it was Sellers’s talent as a drummer more

  than as a comedian that impressed Lodge: ‘He was a great drummer – as good as Buddy Rich.’ His were showman’s performances, complete with flamboyant riffs and the

  confident tossing and catching of drumsticks in mid air. Ageing drummers in Britain may disagree; rumours of Pete’s lack of aptitude have surfaced. Unsung drummers seem to resent the one

  among their ranks who achieved vast wealth and fame as a film star, and apparently they denigrate his drumming talent. It doesn’t matter. The winner writes the history.




  ‘He behaved like a boy – a rascal, actually,’ says Lodge, who necessarily got to see Sellers’s selfish streak at close range but who, like the other men Sellers grew to

  trust, saw the tender and vulnerable side as well. They bunked next to each other in Gloucester. Lodge couldn’t help but notice that Pete was being bullied by a loud and burly Welshman who

  did not appreciate being in such close proximity to a Jew. Sellers, whose temper could erupt violently and without warning, was reacting to these anti-Semitic taunts with restraint, so the bluff,

  muscular Lodge stepped in to assist him. He handed Pete a heavy iron poker and advised him to slam the Welshman over the head with it. ‘If he won’t, I

  will,’ Lodge added straight to the Welshman’s face. The bully backed off.




  What is fascinating about Lodge’s tale is not that Sellers was the object of anti-Semitic contempt but that his Jewishness was so evident to a stranger. Did the men question each other

  about their religions? Or was it simply Peter’s nose?




  As Lodge soon saw, Pete did possess a volatile temper, and when he exercised it there was no holding back. ‘Another time he actually broke a chair up, very deliberately, piece by piece, to

  work out his aggression,’ Lodge recalls. ‘I made a note – “If you get on the wrong side of this boy. . .”’




  That Lodge quickly gained Peter’s trust was made evident by the fact that Peter invited him back home to meet his mother. Peg and Bill were living on Finchley High Road at the time. Lodge,

  not surprisingly, found his new friend’s relationship with his mother ‘too close for comfort’. But, Lodge continues, despite her domination of his emotional life, Peg

  couldn’t control the actions of her wilful son. Pete did precisely what he pleased. He required her commanding love to survive, but he didn’t require her permission for

  anything.




  Only Peg Sellers could see in David Lodge – a tall, broad, athletic serviceman – nothing more than a surrogate for herself. When she discovered that the Gang Show was heading out on

  tour again, she tried to make Lodge promise to become a kind of nanny for her now fully grown son. Says Lodge, ‘If she’d been a fella I’d have whacked her.’




  • • •




  Europe was in unimaginable ruins when Second World War ended in 1945. Thousands of acres in British cities had been reduced to rubble – and Britain had won the

  war.




  There wasn’t enough food, or clothing, or fuel, and these shortages lasted for years. British soldiers, eager to return home from abroad once their enemies had surrendered, were

  nevertheless compelled to await demobilization on the British military’s terms. Since the defeated Germans had to be policed by Allied troops, there were still thousands of British airmen in

  need of light entertainment. Peter remained in the RAF.




  Sellers and Lodge were stationed in a decimated Germany when the officer impersonations started up again. ‘We were based up on the third floor of a big barrack block’ in a former

  Luftwaffe camp in Gütersloh, Lodge remembers. A trace of shock is still left in his voice after all these years. ‘Out came the makeup box,’ whereupon

  Sellers morphed before his eyes into a classical sort of British military man with ‘a full handlebar moustache, parted hair, lieutenant’s bars, wings, and ribbons’. Lodge, amazed

  and appalled at his friend’s absolute transformation, asked Sellers where he thought he was going, to which Sellers replied – in a voice unearthed from some forgotten Boer War epic

  – ‘I think I’m going to inspect the lads downstairs!’




  With the air of a bureaucratic missionary or a sort of military uncle, Peter proceeded to question the men about the quality of their quarters, their supplies, their food, all with an air of

  deep concern. Returning to his quarters, he simply couldn’t understand Lodge’s panicky attitude. ‘Now they really believe somebody cares about them!’ Sellers explained

  sympathetically.




  In telling these tales, Lodge stresses that Sellers still had the lowest possible rank. ‘He did it because he didn’t like himself as he was,’ Lodge says. ‘He didn’t

  think he was attractive at all. And he didn’t like being a nobody.’




  There was an infantile streak as well. Lodge tells of sitting in a Paris pâtisserie with Peter when a tray of cream cakes was set before them: ‘Very deliberately, Peter took a single

  bite out of every pastry on it – he was like an immature, undisciplined child who must cram himself with as much satisfaction as he can as quickly as he can.’




  As far as the chaperoning of Peter was concerned, David Lodge turned out to be a corrupt nanny. He and Pete were males in their twenties; they liked to cat around. In fact, in Cannes they

  managed to procure some champagne to go with a couple of girls, and everyone got so plastered that the boys creatively talked the girls into crawling around the floor pretending to be feline.




  In Toulon, Lodge took it upon himself to rescue Peter from an especially low-life prostitute. Peter had had too much to drink and disappeared. Lodge managed to trace him to a seedy apartment in

  a bad part of town and burst in to find Peter trying to remove his trousers. Fearing for his friend’s safety, he grabbed the disappointed Sellers and sped him away.




  Women, says Lodge, were particularly easy in Germany. Much to his retrospective shame, the pretty young German girls were helpfully starving, which led the two randy young men to use biscuits as

  bait. (‘It was really pathetic,’ Lodge mutters.) Lodge was – and remains – especially disgusted by Pete’s voraciousness with one particular girl, describing her as

  ‘desperate’ and Sellers himself as ‘animalistic’. There was a comical retribution, though, when Pete got up in the middle of the night to use the

  bathroom and chose the wrong door in the dark. Wearing nothing but his RAF underwear, he plunged directly out into the street. The door locked behind him, and he had to pound on it furiously to be

  let back in.




  Lodge remembers spending Christmas 1945 with Sellers on the Champs-Elysées. It was a merry time. The war was over, the Allied soldiers were gleeful, and all was right with the world,

  except that Pete, always on the needy side, had grown a little too dependent on his best friend. When they had to part, having been sent on different entertainment tours, Sellers fell into lonely

  despair. ‘I left him in Germany on the Danish border,’ says Lodge. ‘He was crying.’




  • • •




  Sellers was back in London working at the Air Ministry in Sloane Square and killing time at the Gang Show headquarters on Houghton Street when his term of service with the RAF

  ended. He had already returned home to his mother, who somehow managed to reward his survival with a big, new, shiny black American car.




  Peg was always adept at pulling money out of a hat, but it took special skill to produce any car, let alone a huge American model. It was easy for Peter to park the gleaming heap in any

  London street because, apart from the strict petrol rationing that was still in force, the deprivations of post-war England meant that there were precious few competitors for spots. It was in this

  car-poor context that Graham Stark, a Gang Show sergeant, arrived at the entertainment unit’s headquarters on slim, curving Houghton Street one day and was flabbergasted to see a lowly airman

  methodically polishing a car so big that it appeared to be a limousine. ‘The whole thing had an air of a sequence from a Hitchcock movie,’ Stark writes, ‘the empty street, the

  incongruous car, the lone airman silently polishing.’




  Curious, Stark struck up a conversation with the airman, who boasted that it ‘only does fourteen to the gallon, but you’ve got to admit it’s a right beauty’. (‘No

  concern with petrol rationing, no concern that I was a sergeant,’ Stark notes. ‘He just wasn’t impressed.’) They ended up going out for some tea and war stories, including

  tales of Peter’s life in the theatre, after which Peter enquired about the state of his new friend’s lodgings. Stark had to confess that he was staying in a one-shilling-a-night

  dosshouse. Peter was appalled.




  After a quick call to Peg, he put Stark in the newly polished car and sped him back to East Finchley, where Sellers brought the family’s initially sceptical

  landlady nearly to tears by a torrent of melodramatic pleas. (Poor young officer, served his nation so bravely, jungles of Burma, orphan needing roof. . .) She immediately offered Stark the empty

  one-room flat on the floor below Peter, Peg, and Bill. The flat provided a close-range position from which Stark could witness Peter’s family dynamic. ‘He was an only

  child,’ Stark has said, ‘but it was an absurd “only child”’ – all the spoiling and narcissism, only warped.




  London itself wasn’t itself. The destruction of whole stretches of the city forced many newly homeless residents to become squatters in empty buildings and still-occupied army camps.

  Mourning was standard, the sullen knowledge still sinking in that the war’s dead were not just stragglers on a late steamer from Colombo. There were severe shortages, and therefore strict

  rationing, of basic foods and supplies. The meat allowance hovered around thirteen ounces per person per week; milk at two pints; cheese at one and a half ounces. They got coupons for sweets, and

  they didn’t get many of them. Everybody received a single egg every seven days.




  During the winter of 1946, London, never the brightest of cities, was particularly dreary. It scarcely helped that the battery of fierce blizzards and freezing temperatures that season was

  followed in quick succession by floods during a bleak spring and a relentlessly grey and rainy summer.




  • • •




  At the Sellers residence, the inevitable business cards were printed: ‘Peter Sellers, Drums and Impressions’. Peter took work where he could find it, which is to say

  that he didn’t work very much and was supported almost entirely by Bill and Peg.




  In his off hours, which appear to have been many, he pursued a girl. He did so with such drive and determination that the words clinical and obsession come to mind. Pretty, blonde Hilda Parkin

  met Peter in 1946 at a Christmastime ball at the Grosvenor House in London. The Parkin family had long been friends of the Sellerses and Rays; it was Hilda’s much older brother, Stanley, who

  owned the theatre in Ilfracombe. ‘It was a big thing to go to the Grosvenor House,’ Hilda recalls. ‘One of the first times we’d been able to go to a big ball for a long

  time. Peter was really my nephew’s friend; my nephew was about my age. And when he told Peter his aunt was coming I don’t think he was very pleased. Until we

  met. And then we had great fun together.’




  Hilda, who was living in Norfolk at the time, has kept to this day the many letters Peter Sellers wrote to her during their three-year relationship. ‘I’ve got a hundred and nine

  letters from Peter, with three proposals of marriage and threats to commit suicide if I broke up with him. Some of the letters were sixteen pages long, and he’d already written one in the

  morning, and he was writing one now, and he’d just posted one.’




  From one letter: ‘Hilda, will you marry me next year? We will both be 22.’




  From another: ‘Dearest Hilda – If you ever took it in your mind to pack me in, I’d go completely round the bend.’




  Another describes the view from his parents’ flat on Finchley High Road: ‘From the window, I can see the backs of rows of dreary looking houses. An overcast sky looks down upon the

  tax- and cup-tortured England. When I get to the top I’ll get you a Rolls Royce! Throw in a few butlers for luck.’ (By ‘tax- and cup-tortured England’ Sellers is referring

  to the fact that in the post-war years taxes were as high as food supplies were low. He railed against Britain’s new Labour government in other letters, even going so far as to blame Labour

  for the frigid winter.)




  ‘He was a little fat boy, not that it meant anything,’ Hilda notes. ‘I was a trained dancer and acrobat, and I taught him to dance. Peter got on very well with it. He was

  always kidding, impersonating . . . We had a thousand laughs. We made some records together, Peter and I [in novelty booths where people could cut their own vinyl discs]. He used to impersonate

  me.’




  He also enjoyed other impersonations: ‘Often, his letters would arrive with photographs, and in one of them he was dressed up like his mother.’ This was not done behind Peg’s

  back. She took the picture. ‘In another he was pretending to be his nonexistent sister.’




  Towards the end of their relationship, Peter paid Hilda a visit in Norwich, where he’d taken the job of barking at one of the Parkins’ amusement parks. He checked himself in at the

  best hotel in town – under the creative name ‘Lord Beaconsfield’ – and went pluckily off to visit his girlfriend. In point of fact, however, the first and only Earl of

  Beaconsfield was the nineteenth-century British Prime Minister Benjamin Disraeli, with whom Peter, fantastically, had begun to claim family ties.




  Hilda: ‘My family was running this . . . amusement park – and Peter came up to see me. He came everywhere, wherever I was, bless his heart. He said,

  “You must come over to the hotel. I’ve booked in as Lord Beaconsfield.” His mother said there was some back relationship with Beaconsfield, but that line had died out many years

  ago. There happened to be a lady in that hotel, and someone told her, “Oh, we have Lord Beaconsfield.” And she said, “There is no Lord Beaconsfield.”




  ‘So they went and looked in his suitcase and found a pack of very cheap cigarettes – Woodbines. Not the best cigarettes! And his pyjamas were from Marks and Spencers. When we got

  there, a couple of fellows came straight up to him. One stayed with me, and one marched him off to the manager’s office. He came out a little while later, red-faced, and we both just walked

  off. I said, “I thought I was going to be arrested!”’




  And what was Peter’s first response when confronted by the hotel manager? ‘When they took him into the office,’ Hilda says, ‘he phoned his mother.’




  According to Hilda, Peg explained that yes, Peter ‘was always kidding, there was no harm in him, he’s not going to hurt anybody, and his uncle is the manager of a big London theatre

  . . .’




  But that was not quite the end of it, according to Hilda: ‘When he got back to London he had to report to the police. They let him off. I think the police called on them, because I

  remember he told me that his father had said, ‘Here you are, officer – here’s the Lord Beaconsfield.’




  ‘At the end of the three years when we were very good friends, he wanted to get married, he really did. I wasn’t thinking of marriage. There’d been a war, and we’d only

  just finished it. The last thing I wanted to do was get married.’ So Hilda Parkin told Peter Sellers something he never wanted to hear: ‘I thought it was fair just to tell him that I

  wasn’t in love with him. He burst out crying. So I cried, too. He kept writing, but I didn’t contact him any more. I didn’t answer the letters.’




  • • •




  Pete wasn’t mortally crushed by the rejection, especially since Margaretta ‘Paddy’ Black, a member of an all-girl Gang Show, appears to have been enjoying a

  relationship with Peter at the same time he was pursuing Hilda. Paddy recalls accompanying Peter on a visit to one of the Marks/Rays’ quite-distant relatives, Gerald Rufus Isaacs, the second

  Marquess of Reading. (Gerald Rufus Isaacs’s father, Rufus Daniel Isaacs, 1860–1935, was lord chief justice of England, ambassador to the United States and viceroy of India.) After a

  pleasant discussion of heraldry and cousins far removed, Peter and Paddy headed home, whereupon Peter proudly told her that Gerald Rufus Isaacs’s title was hereditary

  and that he – Peter Sellers – was next in line. If she agreed to marry him, he added pregnantly, Paddy Black stood to become a countess. But the made-up promise of a title wasn’t

  enough. ‘As much as I liked Peter,’ Paddy Black later said, ‘the idea of getting engaged never entered my head.’




  At home, a jittery Peg took to her bed whenever Paddy turned up at 211B Finchley High Road. Hilda Parkin had had better luck: ‘Since they were working and involved with my family, they

  were quite pleased by it. She was very nice to me.’ With Paddy, though, Mother made herself so scarce that Paddy assumed she was a bedridden invalid. ‘Peter?’ Paddy would hear a

  little voice moan from behind a closed bedroom door during these cramped domestic dates.




  Then a little louder: ‘Peeee-ter?!’




  • • •




  Second World War had scared Peg, but certain of Peter’s romances threw her into a cold terror. Following her own mother’s liberal morality, she didn’t expect

  him to remain chaste. It was his heart’s arousal she feared, particularly when the women weren’t firmly within her family’s orbit. Besides, she was smothering.




  David Lodge still remembers the disquieting goodnight phone calls Peter placed to his mother when they were separated: ‘Good night, Peg. God bless you. Yes, you too. God keep you safe! I

  love you. Yes, I do! Yes, I love you, too!’




  Lodge also recalls tiny Peg taking him aside one day, looking up at the burly ex-serviceman, and telling him, with profound admiration and not a shred of comprehension, ‘You

  wouldn’t get married and leave your darling mother.’




  What drove Lodge craziest, though, was the Lady Bountiful air with which Peg thanked him for taking such good care of her Pete during the war. ‘I’ll make things easy for you,’

  she told him, and with a great fanfare of largesse, she arranged for her theatre-managing brother-in-law Bert to hire Lodge as an usher.




  ‘She was a pain in the arse,’ Lodge observes.




  







  T  H  R  E  E




  After returning from the Lord Beaconsfield escapade in Norwich with humiliation in place of the fiancée on whom he claimed, at least, to pin

  his future, Peter found himself hanging around the streets of Soho killing time with other unemployed musicians. The musical arranger Wally Stott, with whom Peter would work closely a few years

  later, remembers meeting him for the first time on the pavement in Archer Street: Peter was dressed ‘in an RAF uniform with a snare drum under his arm’. ‘All musicians

  stand around Archer Street, you know,’ Sellers himself once noted, ‘and everyone was getting work but me.’ (What do you call a bloke who hangs around with musicians? A drummer.)

  Stott, who came to understand Peter very well and like him even more, reflects that ‘in one of his lives he would like to have been a jazz drummer.’




  In still another life, clearly, he would have liked to have been noble. Like the pasted-on moustache he used to dress his upper lip in order to become the youngest detective in Devon,

  Sellers’s assumed identity as Lord Beaconsfield surfaced again at, of all places, a middle-class campsite on one of the Channel Islands. The camp was owned by Hilda Parkin’s brother

  Stanley; Peter’s cousin Dick Ray found work there as well. The job itself was not exactly fulfilling for the talented, impatient young drummer-comedian – crying out ‘wakey,

  wakey’ to a slew of slumbering tourists wasn’t quite the career he had in mind for himself. So Peter decided to add a little sparkle by billing himself as the Fifth Earl of Beaconsfield

  – that is, until a local reporter spoiled the fun by inquiring as to the circumstances in which someone in Burke’s Peerage had descended to a campsite in Jersey. Even after he

  was unmasked Peter couldn’t quite give it up. He insisted on calling himself simply ‘the Fifth Earl’ until he lost that job, too.




  Whether he was Lord Nelson’s relative, Disraeli’s descendent, the next Marquess of Reading or the disembodied doubles of Tommy Handley and the cast of

  ITMA, Peter Sellers was unusually able to sustain multiple identities and never let them interfere with each other – or with reality, for that matter. As his friends explain it, it was

  all because he didn’t much like himself, a schizoid way to build self-esteem. This is a plausible explanation, but perhaps it was equally the case that Sellers harboured an expanding number

  of selves and liked too many of them. What he didn’t like was having to choose one and stick to it.




  Was it to keep these propagating identities at bay or to distill them further into a kind of eaux de folie that Peter began to believe – insofar as any grotesque fantasy is actually

  believed – in the existence of scurrying little midgety creatures called Toffelmen? Moronic buggers who embraced a philosophy of contradiction, Peter’s Toffelmen were creepy but

  stalwart, rock-bottom pessimists who harboured flickers of hope. With their high, squeaky voices and circus-act entertainment value, they kept Peter company. Who knows when they first knocked on

  his mental door, or when (if ever) they departed, but when Peter revealed their existence to David Lodge, Lodge was most unnerved. ‘They were very vulgar,’ says Lodge. ‘They were

  always masturbating.’




  • • •




  The Gang Shows’ steady employment having given way to seemingly endless stretches of nothing, Pete was losing hope. A booking at a Peterborough music hall might have

  bolstered his flagging confidence except for the fact that on opening night, after sharing a cramped dressing room with a blind accordion player and a trick dog act, the waves of hisses that

  greeted his comedy routine led the manager to fire him on the spot. Luckily for Peter, the headlining singer, Dorothy Squires, came to his rescue and convinced the manager to keep him on, though

  Squires later said that she’d seen nothing particularly special in Sellers’s drab routine. She just felt sorry for him: ‘He was just another struggling kid, fresh out of the

  services, very lonely and very scared.’




  A drumming gig at the Aldershot Hippodrome took a similar downturn. Having been loftily billed as ‘Britain’s answer to Gene Krupa’, Peter launched his set only to have the

  lights go wrong and the accompanying band fall drastically off-tempo. The audience rebelled, loudly. Graham Stark recalls Peter telling him about the fiasco, though for

  Stark’s benefit Peter couldn’t help but turn it into a black comedy routine: ‘As a story of absolute disaster it unfailingly reduced me to tears of laughter,’ Stark

  recalls.




  With Peter suffering one thudding calamity after another, it’s little wonder that he thought about disappearing into still another new identity. At his mother’s urging, he considered

  adopting the stage name ‘Peter Ray’. Hilda Parkin remembers it: ‘She wanted him to be called “Peter Ray” – it’s in one of my letters. And I said to him,

  ‘You know, “Peter Sellers” sounds much better. It sort of comes to the tongue better than “Peter Ray”.’ And there already was the star comedian Ted

  Ray.’




  As it happened, he kept Sellers but dropped the drums. The big shining car was gone now – who knows where it had come from, and who knows where it went – and since Peter had, after

  all, chosen to master the most unwieldy musical instrument this side of the piano, the lack of ready transportation made it difficult for him to get from show to show with his cumbersome drum kit.

  ‘I was playing with a little group called The Jive Bombers,’ Peter’s story goes. The band was booked in Birmingham. Peter got there, along with his drums, by hitching a ride with

  the saxophone player. The Jive Bombers were in mid session when people began crowding around Peter’s drums, helpfully making little percussive noises with their tongues in the middle of his

  set. Peter’s tale concludes: ‘This fellow says to me, “Oh say, can ya play ‘Any Umbrellas’?” I said, “No, no, we don’t play that.” He says,

  “Why don’t you play it?” I was getting annoyed at this point, so I said, “Just ’cause we don’t play it, that’s all.” So he looks at me and

  says “Shitface” and walks away. I thought, “That’s it, innit? I’m out.” ’




  • • •




  In March 1948, he was standing around Archer Street not knowing quite what else to do when a press agent friend told him that a nearby venue was looking for a comic. The

  Windmill Theatre, just off Piccadilly Circus, was run by a successfully sordid impresario named Vivian Van Damm. Forbidden from gyrating, Mr Van Damm’s nearly naked girls made a show out of

  stationing themselves around the stage in exalted tableaux of live neoclassical sculpture, each element designed, however roughly, as a contemporary interpretation of a low-grade Venus. The girls

  were essentially coarser and more modern Peg Rays without the slides and body stockings, and the audiences made do. Already frustrated, the Windmill’s crowd was thus

  a tough one as far as any intervening joke-tellers were concerned, and Van Damm, accordingly, was a harsh auditioner. (Who wants to run a strip club with a clientele bored to the point of rioting?)

  But Peter was funny enough, and brave enough, to pass Van Damm’s test, and so took the job of legitimizing naked women for £30 a week.




  Each night, after appearing in small roles in other acts, Peter briefly held the spotlight by himself. He performed a selection of Tommy Handley’s ITMA voices followed by a song

  written for him by his father. The audience seems not to have resented Peter’s intrusion on the Greconudie tableaux vivantes, and at the end of the appointed six-week run, Van Damm was

  impressed enough to add Peter’s name to a billboard on the Windmill wall. It was labelled ‘Stars of Today Who Started Their Careers in This Theatre’.




  • • •




  Some time after the Jersey holiday camp fiasco, Peg had taken Peter by the hand and led him to a Soho office building for a reaquaintance meeting with Dennis Selinger, who seems

  to have lost touch with Peter after parting ways in Calcutta. After being demobilized, Selinger had returned to London and launched his own theatrical agency. The two men may have been friends in

  India, but Peg seized control of their reunion, insisting as only Peg could that her son would make a fortune for the hungry young agent. ‘I was more impressed with Peg than with Pete,’

  Selinger later declared, which was only natural since Peter spent most of the meeting clearing his throat toward no vocal end and fussing over the pristine crease in his trousers and the fine

  leather gloves he held in his nervous hands. Severe clothes rationing, by the way, was still in force.




  Selinger agreed to represent Peter, but it appears never to have been an exclusive arrangement, since Peter had at least one other agent knocking on doors for him at the time, and many others

  followed suit over the years, either in concert with or apart from Selinger. Still, it was Peter himself rather than his agents or his mother who landed the first audition at the BBC. He’d

  written to request an audition in January 1948, was granted one in February, and in March he appeared on British television on an amateur hour called New to You. The act consisted of

  impersonations and included this little jingle:




  

    

      I’m glad you’ve heard my name – it’s Peter Sellers!




      Peter Sellers can be gay as well as zealous!




      And now it’s my due, from the programme New to You,




      As one of Britain’s up and coming fellas – perhaps.


    


  




  He needed a writer. In any event, the bit survives only because Peter himself went out and bought a disc-cutting recorder, a rare and expensive machine for the consumer market,

  simply in order to memorialize the occasion of his BBC debut.




  Peter did well enough on New to You, but he was not immediately skyrocketed into stardom, and he still needed to find any work he could. When the producer Hedley Claxton needed a straight

  man to appear with the comedian Reg Varney in his Gaytime revue, Peter auditioned. The final try-out came down to Peter and Benny Hill. Benny Hill won.




  Peter set his sights, or rather his ears, back on the BBC – not television, which was still minimal in Britain, but radio. After all, he’d been listening to and mimicking BBC

  programmes since childhood. Indeed, by this point he could have copyrighted his ITMA routines had Tommy Handley himself not already done so. Besides Handley, Peter could do Neville

  Chamberlain, Winston Churchill and a host of precise but anonymous American travelogue announcers. His renditions of any number of other BBC personalities were flawless. And he could prove it.




  The setup: In 1948, Kenneth Horne was the star of a hit radio show called Much Binding in the Marsh. Set on an RAF base, Much Binding was one of several war-themed comedy shows

  that were popular that year. The patrician-sounding Horne played the commanding officer; the chirpy-voiced Richard Murdoch played his assistant. Roy Speer was a successful BBC producer.




  ‘I was pissed off – oh, excuse me, fed up, right – with getting nowhere fast,’ Peter told Michael Parkinson on the BBC in 1974. ‘Roy Speer was doing this

  show called Show Time. The compère was Dick Bentley, and there were lots of new acts, you see? I’d written in I don’t know how many times to try to get in on the show. No

  reply. The secretary said that Mr Speer “blah barumpfh hmpf”. So I’ve got nothing to lose, and I thought, well, I’ll phone up. We were doing these impersonations, and one of

  the big shows on the air was Much Binding in the Marsh with Kenneth Horne and Dickie Murdoch. I just thought I’d do it. You know, you do things at certain times.

  You’ve got to get ahead! You’ve got to [car noise] vrummmmm! So I thought if I stay here I’m dead, [and] even if he kicks my arse out of there it

  doesn’t matter as long as I make some impression. So I phone up, and . . . I thought if I click with the secretary, I’ll get through, right? So, I said [deep, resonant voice],

  “Oh, hello hmmm, this is hmmm Ken Horne. Is Roy there?” Once she said, “Oh, yes he is, Ken,” I knew that I was alright. So, I got on there and Roy said, “Hallo, Ken!

  How are you?” I said, “Listen, Roy, I’m phoning up because I know that new show you’ve got on – what is it, Show Time or something? Dickie and I were at a

  cabaret the other night and saw an amazing young fellow called Peter . . . Dickie, what’s his name?” [High-pitched twit voice:] “Uh, Peter Sellers! Sellers!” [Resonant voice

  again:] “Anyway, it could probably be very good if you probably had him in the show, you know. This is just a tip, a little tip.” He said, “Well that’s very nice of

  you.” And then he came to the crunch, and I said, “Uh . . . I, uh . . . It’s me, it’s Peter Sellers talking and this was the only way I could get to you and would you give

  me a date on your show?”




  ‘He said, “You cheeky young sod! What do you do?” I said, “Well, I obviously do impersonations.”’




  Speer was correct. Peter Sellers was a cheeky young sod. In other words, he was a natural comedian whose intense insecurity was armoured by the hide of a pachyderm. The child who’d

  got whatever he wanted had become an ambitious twenty-two-year-old who wrote the letters and made the phone calls and white-knuckled his way through one wretched audition after another in pursuit

  of the blazing career he was convinced he was ordained to have. After his period of post-war malaise, the young Peter Sellers became exceedingly persistent in seeking work that would showcase his

  enormous talent, and he offended people all along the way.




  The piano player at the Windmill found him pushy. A disgruntled Freemason claims that Peter joined a lodge in the late 1940s, became an unrepentant social climber, and broke the sacred covenant

  of secrecy – the code words and silly handshakes and all the rest. ‘He bandied the phrases and signals about at the BBC,’ the bitter Mason reports. By doing so, he continues,

  Peter greatly embarrassed the good but gullible Masons who had sponsored him in the first place.




  Spike Milligan offers a more empathetic explanation for his friend’s peculiarities. Peter, Milligan once said, ‘was just a nice, very quiet, and very complex simpleton. He was the

  most complex simpleton in the world.’




  The BBC broadcast Peter’s Show Time programme on July 1, 1948. A little over a week later, Leslie Ayre, the radio critic for the London

  Evening News, gave Peter his first post-war review. It was a very good one with one highly quotable nugget: ‘In Peter Sellers, radio brings us another really conscientious and

  excellent artist.’ An overjoyed Peg framed the whole review and kept it on the wall for the rest of her life. Dennis Selinger did something more practical: he had it reproduced as a

  three-column ad and ran it in the trade papers, complete with a glamorous-looking head shot of the suddenly rising young star, the new master of funny voices.




  The ad, the review, Selinger’s phone calls, and most of all Peter’s performances rapidly earned him a number of variety show bookings and cabaret engagements, not to mention more

  radio spots. Over the course of the next twelve months, Sellers and his proliferating voices turned up on the BBC on Workers’ Playtime, Variety Band Box, Ray’s a

  Laugh, Petticoat Lane and Third Division. The seamless flow of dissociation his multiple characters produced was remarkable. Men, women, old, young, upper class, working class,

  the nasal, the clipped. . .Peter’s endlessly redoubling accents were so naturalistic that listeners had to remind themselves that they were hearing only one man and not a crowd. And on the

  radio, at least, whatever genuine Peter Sellers there was tended to get lost. ‘Well, that’s me!’ Peter announced on one show, only it wasn’t his actual voice at all;

  it was the voice of a bland and anonymous BBC announcer as imitated by Peter.
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